# DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

# FILE COPY

**DOCKET NO. 18-0498**

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Circuit Court Erred in Finding that the Warrantless Arrest of Mr. Rexrode in the Marital Bedroom of His Home Fell Within the Emergency Doctrine Exception to the Warrant Requirement.
- B. In the Midst of an Evidentiary Dispute During Trial, the Magistrate Left the Courtroom to Consult Ex Parte with the Circuit Judge About How to Rule on the Pending Evidentiary Matter, and then the Magistrate Based His Ruling Upon the Advice Received from the Circuit Judge.
- C. The Magistrate Court Committed Clear Error in Forcing the Victim to Testify Against Mr. Rexrode by Threatening Her with Contempt After She Invoked her Fifth Amendment Privilege Based Upon the Advice of Her Attorney, and the Circuit Court Ratified It.
- D. The Prosecuting Attorney's Comments During Rebuttal Clearly Prejudiced Mr. Rexrode and Resulted in Manifest Injustice.
- E. The Magistrate Court Erred in Failing to Record the Voir Dire Portion of the Jury Trial, Thereby Preventing Numerous Errors from Being Reflected in the Record.
- F. Error was Committed When Cpl. Nazelrod Testified to the Hearsay Within Hearsay Statement Made by an Uninvolved Third Person to a 911 Dispatcher, Particularly After the Prosecuting Attorney Represented to the Court that Such Testimony Would Not be Introduced.
- G. The Circuit Court Erred in Failing to Render a Decision on the Appeal Within the Statutorily Required 90-Day Time Period.
- H. The Cumulative Effect of the Errors Prevented Mr. Rexrode from Receiving a Fair Trial.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is riddled with error. It began with the warrantless arrest in the home, continued with the magistrate's improper conduct and prosecutor's inflammatory argument at trial, and ended with the circuit court failing to render a decision on the appeal within the statutory required timeframe.

Appellant and defendant below, Michael Shane Rexrode (hereinafter "Mr. Rexrode"), was charged with domestic battery against his wife, Rexrode (hereinafter "Mrs.

Rexrode"), on April 19, 2017. In violation of the Fourth Amendment, Mr. Rexrode was arrested in his home without a warrant. Thereafter, Mr. Rexrode was prosecuted at trial with help from the magistrate who 1) failed to record voir dire during which time he made biased comments in favor of the prosecution, 2) engaged in an ex parte conversation with the chief judge during trial on how to rule on an evidentiary matter, and 3) forced Mrs. Rexrode to testify under the threat of contempt. The prosecuting attorney introduced inadmissible hearsay evidence and capped off the jury trial by arguing "[w]hat do you reckon might happen to [Mrs. Rexrode] if she goes home now after he's had to go through all this?"

Mr. Rexrode timely appealed his conviction to circuit court. There, his conviction was rubber stamped. The circuit court failed to render a decision on the appeal within the statutory time period, only adding to the other errors prevalent throughout the criminal prosecution.

#### A. Statement of Facts

Michael Shane Rexrode is a 53 year-old poultry farmer in Maysville, West Virginia. (App. 175). He has been married to Rexrode for 16 years. (App. 174). They have no children. *Id.* On the morning of April 19, 2017, Mr. Rexrode arrived at his layer poultry house around 5:00 a.m. to begin a day of gathering eggs. (App. 175, 177). Mr. Rexrode noticed that the feedline was not working because a pin had sheared in one of the gears that run the feedline. (App. 175, 177). He had to fix the problem quick for the chickens to be fed. (App. 175). To repair it, Mr. Rexrode reached down into the feedline to get the chain loose so that he could put the pin back in place. (App. 175, 177). The edges of the pan on the feedline are sharp, and Mr. Rexrode cut his hand while repairing the feedline. *Id.* Specifically, Mr. Rexrode cut the ring finger and side of his right hand. (TT. 175). He is right-hand dominant. *Id.* 

After repairing the feedline, Mr. Rexrode gathered eggs until approximately 7:00 p.m.

(App. 175). When Mr. Rexrode arrived back at his house that evening after a long day of work, his wife accused him of having an affair with the female employee that worked at the poultry house. (App. 175-76). Mr. Rexrode brushed it off, knowing the allegation was untrue. (App. 176). Mrs. Rexrode had been drinking heavily and taking pills. (App. 170, 176). She was slurring her speech, staggering, and appeared visibly intoxicated. (App. 176). Mrs. Rexrode clearly admitted that she was "drunk" and "pissed off" at Mr. Rexrode for spending all of his time down at the poultry house. (App. 170).

Rather than engage in a verbal argument with his wife, Mr. Rexrode told her that they would talk the next morning after she sobered up. (App. 176). Mr. Rexrode took a shower and went to bed. *Id.* Being exhausted from working all day, he immediately went to sleep. (App. 179). Mr. Rexrode was adamant and testified repeatedly that he never had a physical altercation with his wife. (App. 176).

Later on that evening, Corporal S.A. Nazelrod of the West Virginia State Police received a call for a "well-being check" at the Rexrode household. (App. 222). Apparently, 1 an uninvolved third party called to report an altercation between Mr. and Mrs. Rexrode. (App. 219, 223). That third party did not, however, witness any altercation or injury to Mrs. Rexrode. (App. 224). Cpl. Nazelrod responded to the Rexrode home.

Upon arrival, Cpl. Nazelrod did not witness any altercation between Mr. and Mrs. Rexrode. (App. 160, 226). He did not hear any arguing or yelling. *Id.* Cpl. Nazelrod knocked on the door and was greeted by Mrs. Rexrode on the front porch. *Id.* Importantly, Mrs. Rexrode was not trying to escape from Mr. Rexrode or fleeing the house for her safety. (App. 160, 226-27). She did not say anything to Cpl. Nazelrod to give him the impression that she was fearful for her safety or felt that she was in danger. (App. 227).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The third party did not testify at any hearing or at trial.

Cpl. Nazelrod observed an injury to Mrs. Rexrode's eye and naturally asked about how the injury occurred. (App. 227-28). Mrs. Rexrode replied that she had injured her eye on farm equipment earlier in the day. (App. 228). Without asking permission, Cpl. Nazelrod forced his way into the Rexrode home. (App. 160, 228). Mrs. Rexrode specifically opposed and objected to Cpl. Nazelrod entering the home. (App. 160, 228). He went in anyway. *Id*.

After forcing his way into the home over Mrs. Rexrode's objection, Cpl. Nazelrod walked directly to the marital bedroom, passing through a second door. (App. 160-61, 229). There, he found Mr. Rexrode lying in the marital bed under the covers. (App. 161, 229-30). Cpl. Nazelrod had no information that a weapon had been involved in the alleged altercation. (App. 231). Nonetheless, he shouted to Mr. Rexrode "show me your hands!" (App. 161, 220). Mr. Rexrode complied. *Id.* Without asking any questions, Cpl. Nazelrod immediately detained Mr. Rexrode and placed him in handcuffs. (App. 161, 230). Cpl. Nazelrod then marched Mr. Rexrode out to the kitchen. *Id.* Mr. Rexrode was only wearing his underwear. *Id.* Shortly thereafter, Mr. Rexrode was placed in the back of the police cruiser and taken to jail. Cpl. Nazelrod did not have an arrest warrant or search warrant before forcing his way into the Rexrode home to seize Mr. Rexrode. (App. 233).

After detaining Mr. Rexrode, Cpl. Nazelrod and Deputy S. Rohrbaugh of the Grant County Sheriff's Office proceeded to interrogate Mrs. Rexrode. (App. 171). Importantly, Mrs. Rexrode refused to speak with officers when they initially arrived at the Rexrode household. (App. 172). Mrs. Rexrode only gave a statement after Mr. Rexrode was hauled out of the bedroom in handcuffs and she was pressed by the officers. *Id.* Mrs. Rexrode gave a statement to Cpl. Nazelrod and Deputy Rohrbaugh that her husband jabbed her in the face and held her down on the living room floor. (App. 103, 169). The statement was handwritten by Cpl. Nazelrod, who

testified that he "typically dictate[s] a statement for a victim." (App. 173). Later, Mrs. Rexrode very adamantly testified her statement to the officers that evening was "a lie" because she was "drunk" and "pissed off" at Mr. Rexrode. (App. 169-70).

#### B. Procedural History

Mr. Rexrode was arrested in his home without a warrant on April 19, 2017. (App. 007). He was taken before the magistrate court to be arraigned on April 20, 2017. (App. 010). Thereafter, Mr. Rexrode filed numerous motions, including a motion to dismiss based upon the unlawful warrantless arrest, and multiple suppression motions. (App. 028-36). A suppression hearing was held on June 27, 2017. At the conclusion of the hearing, the magistrate court denied Mr. Rexrode's motion to dismiss and motion to suppress evidence. Interestingly, the magistrate court's *sole finding* was that "the officer not only acted lawfully, but appropriately, under the circumstances." (App. 242). The magistrate court did not prepare a written order, failed to make any meaningful factual findings, and did not perform any type of legal analysis. *Id*.

Immediately before the jury trial on August 14, 2017, the magistrate court held a further suppression hearing on Mr. Rexrode's previously filed motion to suppress statement. The magistrate court denied the motion, stating that "the evidence can come in in the prosecution's case-in-chief." (App. 153). Again, no legal reasoning was set forth on the record for the decision. *Id.* A jury was then impaneled. The voir dire portion of the jury trial was not recorded by the magistrate court unbeknownst to the parties. (App. 154).

During the jury trial, Mr. Rexrode moved for a mistrial on several occasions, including when 1) Cpl. Nazelrod testified to hearsay within hearsay after the prosecuting attorney confirmed he would not testify to such statement; 2) the magistrate court conferred with the circuit judge about how to rule on an evidentiary matter; 3) the magistrate court forced the victim

to testify by threatening her with contempt; and 4) the prosecuting attorney made a highly inflammatory remark during rebuttal argument. (App. 157-58, 166-68, 187-88). The magistrate court denied all the motions. *Id*.

The jury found Mr. Rexrode guilty of domestic battery, and he was sentenced on September 22, 2017 to ten days in jail. Pursuant to a previously filed *Notice of Appeal*, Mr. Rexrode filed his *Petition for Appeal* on October 12, 2017, thereby regularly placing his appeal on the circuit court's docket. (App. 127). On November 1, 2017, Mr. Rexrode filed his *Notice of Filing of Transcript, Designation of Record, and Additional Assignment of Error in Further Support of Petition for Appeal*. (App. 144). A hearing was held on January 22, 2018. After hearing the arguments of the parties, the circuit court stated that it would render a decision "in about ten days or two weeks." (App. 260).

On April 30, 2018, Mr. Rexrode filed his *Motion to Vacate Magistrate Court Conviction* and *Dismiss Appeal* based upon the circuit court's failure to render a decision on the appeal within the statutorily required 90 day time period. (App. 200). On May 24, 2018, 220 days after being placed on its docket, the circuit court entered an *Order Denying Appeal*. (App. 204). A timely appeal to this Court followed.

#### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Cpl. Nazelrod was dispatched to the Rexrode home for a well-being checkup after a third person reported a physical altercation between the Rexrodes. Upon arrival, Cpl. Nazelrod observed an injury to Mrs. Rexrode's eye to which she indicated she had injured on farm equipment earlier in the day. Over Mrs. Rexrode's objection, Cpl. Nazelrod forced his way into the home and immediately arrested Mr. Rexrode who was asleep in the marital bedroom. No warrant was obtained. Although the State flip flopped on which exception it was relying upon to

justify the warrantless arrest, the lower courts found no problem with the warrantless entry and arrest of Mr. Rexrode in the marital bedroom of his home. Unfortunately for Mr. Rexrode, that was only the first of many constitutional and statutory violations in the criminal prosecution of his case.

When called to testify by the State during trial, Mrs. Rexrode invoked her Fifth Amendment privilege based upon the advice of her attorney. In the midst of arguments on Mrs. Rexrode's invocation of her constitutional right, the magistrate left the courtroom to call the chief judge of the 21<sup>st</sup> judicial circuit to ask him what to do. Relying upon the advice obtained from the chief judge during an ex parte conversation, the magistrate compelled Mrs. Rexrode to testify over strenuous objections from her own separate counsel and Mr. Rexrode. Worse, the magistrate threatened Mrs. Rexrode with contempt if she refused to testify.

The prosecuting attorney ended the trail by making an inappropriate argument concerning the future well-being of Mrs. Rexrode in an effort to inflame the passions of the jury. It worked. After the trial, it was discovered that the magistrate court did not record voir dire. This is especially problematic given the numerous statements made by the magistrate to demonstrate his bias towards the prosecution. The other significant error committed during trial was Cpl. Nazelrod blatantly blurting out hearsay immediately after the prosecuting attorney stipulated that such testimony would not be introduced. Based upon the magistrate's errors and the prosecutor's free rein, Mr. Rexrode was convicted.

The conviction was timely appealed to circuit court where it was rubber stamped. Only adding to the numerous other errors throughout the criminal prosecution, the circuit court did not render a decision on the appeal until 220 days after it was placed on the docket. The statute requires a decision within 90 days. In consideration of the entire record, it is evident that Mr.

Rexrode was denied a fair trial.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This case involves assignments of error in the lower courts' application of settled law. The Petitioner requests this Court to set this case for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. Oral argument is necessary in this case to provide the Court with an opportunity to inquire into the specific facts surrounding the application of law to the specific facts of this case.

#### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

With regard to the unlawful arrest, "the ultimate determination as to whether a search or seizure was reasonable under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Section 6 of Article III of the West Virginia Constitution is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*." Syl. Pt. 2, in part, *State v. Lacy*, 196 W. Va. 104, 468 S.E.2d 719 (1996). Concerning the application of constitutional and statutory requirements, "[w]here the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review." Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

The standard for reviewing the prosecuting attorney's inflammatory remarks has been explained as "[a] judgment of conviction will not be set aside because of improper remarks made by a prosecuting attorney to a jury which do not clearly prejudice the accused or result in manifest injustice." Syl. Pt. 5, *State v. Sugg*, 193 W.Va. 388, 456 S.E.2d 469 (1995). Regarding the magistrate's erroneous evidentiary rulings, "[a] trial court's evidentiary rulings, as well as its application of the Rules of Evidence, are subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard." Syl. Pt. 4, *State v. Rodoussakis*, 204 W.Va. 58, 511 S.E.2d 469 (1998).

Finally, this Court has long held that "[f]ailure to observe a constitutional right constitutes reversible error unless it can be shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Syl. Pt. 5, State ex rel. Grob v. Blair, 158 W.Va. 647, 214 S.E.2d 330 (1975).

# B. The Circuit Court Erred in Finding that the Warrantless Arrest of Mr. Rexrode in the Marital Bedroom of His Home Fell Within the Emergency Doctrine Exception to the Warrant Requirement.

Mr. Rexrode was seized in the marital bedroom of his home without a warrant after officers forced their way into the home over Mrs. Rexrode's objection. The *only* information available to Cpl. Nazelrod was 1) a report from an uninvolved third party that an altercation had taken place earlier that evening, and 2) observing an injury to Mrs. Rexrode's eye, to which she stated she injured on farm equipment earlier that day. With only this information, and over Mrs. Rexrode's objection, Cpl. Nazelrod forced his way into the home and immediately went to the marital bedroom for the purpose of seizing Mr. Rexrode. On appeal, the circuit court found that this warrantless entry fell within the emergency doctrine exception despite the State's reliance on the community caretaker doctrine exception. Neither exception applied to the facts set forth in the record evidence.

### i. Warrantless Seizures in the Home are Per Se Unreasonable, and the State has the Burden of Proving an Exception to the Warrant Requirement.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article III, § 6 of the West Virginia Constitution protect the rights of citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures in their homes. Searches and seizures "conducted outside the judicial process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment – subject only to a few specially established and well-delineated exceptions." *State v. Duvernoy*, 156 W.

Va. 578, 583, 195 S.E.2d 631, 634–35 (1973); See also Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347 (1967); Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443 (1971).

For nearly 100 years, this Court has emphasized the necessity of a warrant for a search or seizure performed in the home. *See State v. Wills*, 91 W.Va. 659, 114 S.E. 261 (1922) ("Any search of a person's house without a valid search warrant is an unreasonable search under Sec. 6, Art. 3, Constitution of West Virginia . . . Being unreasonable, it is unlawful . . . if the warrant be not so issued . . . it is void, and the search, seizure and arrest thereunder are unreasonable."). The home is the pinnacle of Fourth Amendment protection. "[W]hen it comes to the Fourth Amendment, the home is first among equals." *Florida* v. *Jardines*, 569 U. S. 1, 6 (2013). "At the Amendment's 'very core' stands 'the right of a man to retreat into his own home and there be free from unreasonable governmental intrusion." *Id.* (quoting *Silverman* v. *United States*, 365 U. S. 505, 511 (1961)). "There is no question ... that activities which take place within the sanctity of the home merit the most exacting protection." *State v. Lacy*, 196 W.Va. 104, 111, 468 S.E.2d 719, 726 (1996).

According, the Supreme Court of the United States has stated that "[i]t is a basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable." *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980) (citations and quotations omitted). Similarly, this Court has plainly stated that "[i]n West Virginia, we jealously guard a person's right to privacy in the home and have strictly limited the circumstances justifying a warrantless arrest in the home." *State v. Mullins*, 177 W. Va. 531, 533–34, 355 S.E.2d 24, 26 (1987). It is a well settled principle that "[i]n the absence of one of the exemptions to the warrant requirement, the police must obtain an arrest warrant before

entering a home to seize a person." State v. Peacher, 167 W.Va. 540, 570–71, 280 S.E.2d 559, 579 (1981) (citing State v. McNeal, 162 W.Va. 550, 251 S.E.2d 484 (1978)).

Procedurally, the State had the burden of proving that its warrantless entry into Mr. Rexrode's home fell within one of the "jealously and carefully drawn" exceptions. *Jones v. United States*, 357 U.S. 493 (1958); *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443 (1971); *State v. McNeal*, 162 W. Va. 550, 251 S.E.2d 484 (1978); *see also Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 750 (1984) ("Before agents of the government may invade the sanctity of the home, the burden is on the government to demonstrate exigent circumstances that overcome the presumption of unreasonableness that attaches to all warrantless home entries.").

In magistrate court, the State first attempted to justify the warrantless arrest in the marital bedroom of Mr. Rexrode's home under the emergency doctrine exception to the warrant requirement as set forth in Syllabus Point 2 of State v. Cecil, 173 W.Va. 27, 311 S.E.2d 144 (1983). Likely recognizing that the emergency doctrine exception would not withstand scrutiny on appeal, the State abandoned its reliance on the emergency doctrine exception in circuit court. Instead, it argued that the warrantless arrest was valid under community caretaker doctrine as set forth in Ullom v. Miller, 227 W. Va. 1, 705 S.E.2d 111 (2010). The circuit court rejected the State's reliance on the community caretaker doctrine<sup>2</sup> and sua sponte found that the emergency doctrine exception validated the warrantless arrest.

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