IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 18-0498



STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Grant County (Case No. 17-MAP-1)

MICHAEL SHANE REXRODE,

Defendant Below, Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

ELIZABETH GRANT
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor
Charleston, West Virginia 25301
Email: Elizabeth.D.Grant@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

State Bar No. 12588 Counsel for Respondent

I.

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

The jury also weighed the credibility of the witnesses. Ultimately, Mrs. Rexrode gave three different stories about her injury. Her reluctance to testify against her husband was apparent, as she stated she was scared and also apologized to him. (AR 168–70). Petitioner testified that he

did not see his wife's eye injury but fell asleep just minutes before police arrived. Therefore, the jury properly inferred that his story was factually impossible and not credible. Finally, there is no evidence that the prosecutor deliberately made such comments to divert the jury's attention from the evidence presented. Therefore, the circuit court's denial of this claim was not an abuse of discretion.

E. The court's failure to record the *voir dire* was not reversible error.

Petitioner alleges that the magistrate court's failure to record *voir dire* amounts to reversible error. However, Petitioner fails to mention that certain portions of jury selection were recorded. (AR 153). Petitioner's preliminary objections to the jury pool were discussed prior to individual voir dire. (AR 153). It appears that *voir dire* of individual jurors was conducted in chambers and off the record.⁷ Then, the record resumed, *at the request of counsel*, when the Petitioner moved to strike a juror for cause.⁸ (AR 154).

To begin, while in chambers, Petitioner was undoubtedly aware that the proceedings were not being recorded because, after *voir dire*, either the State or Petitioner requested that the recording resume. (AR 154). In the very least, Petitioner should have been aware that transferring the proceedings to chambers would alter the court's recordation of the proceedings. Now, Petitioner claims this error constitutes reversible error. But, this Court does not permit the Petitioner to benefit from "invited error." *State v. Rollins*, 233 W.Va. 715, 728, 760 S.E.2d 529, 542 (2014). The "invited error" doctrine "is a cardinal rule of appellate review applied to a wide range of conduct. . . . Having induced an error, a party in a normal case may not at a later stage of the trial use the error to set aside its immediate and adverse consequences." *Id.* (quoting *State v.*

⁷ The prosecutor references comments that a prospective juror made "in chambers." (AR 154).

⁸ After a break in the transcript, the Court states "We're back on the record at counsel's request." (AR 154). Admittedly, it is unclear whether "counsel" was the prosecutor or Petitioner's counsel.

Crabtree, 198 W.Va. 620, 627, 484 S.E.2d 605, 612 (1996)). Because Petitioner invited this error, he cannot find relief for it on appeal.

Even if this Court declines to apply the invited error doctrine, Petitioner's claim still fails on the merits. Although Petitioner is correct that jury trials in magistrate court are statutorily required to be recorded, see W. Va. Code § 50-5-8(e), the magistrate court's failure to fully comply with a procedural rule does not amount to reversible error unless there is prejudice to Petitioner. See State v. Bolling, 162 W.Va. 103, 115, 246 S.E.2d 631, 638 (1978) (holding that "the failure to report some part of the proceeding will not alone constitute reversible error. Some identifiable error or prejudice must be shown by the defendant.").

In State v. Chanze, 211 W.Va. 257, 565 S.E.2d 379 (2002), this Court remanded a case to magistrate court for a new jury trial when the entire recording was defective and the Petitioner's attorney on appeal was not trial counsel. This Court held that:

When an electronic record of a magistrate court jury trial in a criminal case is so defective that no record or virtually no record is available from which to prepare an appeal or to conduct appellate review, the criminal defendant is entitled to obtain meaningful review of the magistrate court proceeding by informing the circuit court of the faulty record and reconstructing the record or, if reconstruction is impossible, receiving a new trial by jury in magistrate court.

Chanze, at syl. pt. 2.

Unlike *Chanze*, where the defendant was entitled to a new trial because the **entire** recording was defective, here the only unavailable recording was individual *voir dire*. Because the record is otherwise complete, this Court can conduct a meaningful review of Petitioner's claimed errors.

Petitioner alleges that three errors occurred during *voir dire* that demonstrate that the magistrate favored the State and resulted in reversible error: 1) the magistrate showed bias when commenting that several of the panel members were from Maysville, the same town as defendant;

2) the magistrate was partial towards the State when he expressed displeasure that the State did not strike a juror that previously disclosed he was falsely accused of domestic violence; and 3) the magistrate did not strike a juror who was previously represented by the prosecutor. Each of these errors can be reviewed from the record before this Court.

Petitioner's first claim was captured on the record. The record reflects the parties' conversation regarding the large amount of panel members that were from the same town as the Petitioner. When discussing a prospective juror before individual voir dire, the magistrate court stated: "[H]aving viewing the jury pool, I had some concerns . . . I'm from [Maysville], Mr. Rexrode is from [Maysville], and [a prospective juror] is from [Maysville]." ⁹ (AR 154). The prosecutor then noted that nine (9) prospective jurors are from Maysville. Nothing about this dialogue indicates that the magistrate favored the State. Rather, it indicates that the magistrate thoughtfully considered the likelihood that members of a small community may know each other.

Petitioner's second claim that the magistrate favored the State regarding potential juror Woody Stewart fails because Mr. Stewart was ultimately struck from the jury panel and Petitioner does not identify how he suffered prejudice. This Court holds that:

A trial court's failure to remove a biased juror from a jury panel . . . does not violate a criminal defendant's right to a trial by an impartial jury if the defendant removes the juror with a peremptory strike. In order to obtain a new trial for having used a peremptory strike to remove a biased juror from a jury panel, a criminal defendant must show prejudice.

Syllabus Point 3, *State v. Sutherland*, 231 W.Va. 410, 745 S.E.2d 448 (2013) (overruling Syllabus point 8 of *State v. Phillips*, 194 W.Va. 569, 461 S.E.2d 75 (1995)). Further, an "appellate court[] will not find reversible error based on the trial court's refusal to remove that juror for cause unless

⁹ It appears that the record incorrectly states Maidsville, and it should reflect Maysville.

the resulting jury was not fair and impartial." *State v. Rollins*, 233 W.Va. 715, 729, 760 S.E.2d 529, 543 (2014) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

During *voir dire*, Woody Stewart disclosed that he believed that he was previously wrongly accused of domestic violence. (AR 132, 154). The State did not move to strike him for cause, but struck him using a peremptory strike. (AR 132, 154, 193). Then, Petitioner objected to the State's peremptory strike of panel member Woody Stewart. (AR 154). He argued that the State's strike was based on gender.

Mr. Moore [defense counsel]:Okay, in exercising its peremptory strikes, the State of West Virginia struck Eric Kimble and Woody Stewart, both of whom are males. Therefore, we are making an objection . . . that the State is using its peremptory strikes to strike male jurors from this potential jury pool.

[The prosecutor]: [T]he first strike that I made had to do with the man that in chambers told the four of us that he had a prejudice against the offense of domestic battery because he had been falsely charged in the State of Maryland, and indicated that he had a problem with even being a juror in this case.

(AR at 154). The court denied this motion.

The State struck Mr. Stewart from the jury panel with a peremptory strike. On appeal, the State explained it reasoning for not moving the court to strike for cause. Specifically, the prosecutor did not move to remove any jurors for cause because he was concerned that ten jurors would be left before peremptory strikes, thus, resulting in another trial. (AR 193). Again, Petitioner fails to demonstrate any prejudice.

Petitioner also argues that the magistrate court's failure to strike a potential juror, who was previously a client of the prosecutor, for cause unfairly favored the State. Importantly, this person did not sit on the jury. (AR 135). Petitioner struck her using a peremptory strike. Even assuming arguendo that the magistrate should have removed this juror for cause, Petitioner must also establish prejudice, which he fails to do. See Sutherland, at syl. pt. 3 (holding that trial court's

failure to strike potential juror for cause did not constitute reversible error without a showing of prejudice.).

Because only a portion of the record is unavailable, this Court should follow its holding in *Bolling*, that requires the Petitioner to identify prejudice before this Court will find reversible error. *See* 162 W.Va. at 115, 246 S.E.2d at 638.

F. Neither court abused its discretion when finding that Cpl. Nazelrod's testimony regarding the nature of call was not hearsay.

Petitioner argues that Cpl. Nazelrod's statement to the jury that "dispatch advised it was reported that there had been a physical altercation at the Rexrode" constituted impermissible hearsay and resulted in reversible error. (AR 157). ¹⁰

To begin, a trial court's "rulings on the admissibility of evidence" is within its "sound discretion and should not be disturbed unless there has been an abuse of discretion." Syllabus Point 1, *State v. Phelps*, 197 W. Va. 713, 478 S.E.2d 563, 565 (1996). To constitute hearsay, the statement must be offered to "prove the truth of the matter asserted." W.Va. R. Evid. 801(c)(2). As explained by this Court, "[o]ut-of-court statements made by someone other than the declarant while testifying are not admissible unless [] the statement is not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but for some other purpose such as motive, intent, state-of-mind, identification or reasonableness of the party's action." Syllabus Point 1, *State v. Maynard*, 183 W.Va. 1, 4, 393 S.E.2d 221 (1990).

This Court addressed factually similar statements in *Maynard* and *Phelps* and held that testimony that "explain[s] previous conduct' by the officers in carrying out their investigations" is not hearsay. *Phelps*, at 572. For instance, in *Maynard*, this Court conducted a double hearsay

¹⁰ At the trial, Petitioner also objected on the basis of the Confrontation Clause. However, on this appeal, he does not assert error under the Confrontation Clause.

analysis where an anonymous caller implicated the defendant in robbery. *Id.* at 4, 224. Based on the anonymous call, a detective told the officer to include a picture of the defendant in the photo lineup. *Id.* This Court held that the statement of the anonymous caller and the statement of the detective to the officer were not hearsay. It reasoned that the officer's testimony was "necessary to show the motive or reasonableness of the police officer's actions when including the defendant's photograph" in the lineup. *Id.* Therefore, it was not introduced for the truth of the matter asserted, but to show why the defendant's photograph was included in the lineup. 11 *See also State v. Phelps*, 197 W.Va. 713, 478 S.E.2d 563, 571 (1996) (holding that officer's testimony regarding how law enforcement learned of defendant's location was not hearsay but it was offered to "explain previous conduct' by the officers in carrying out their investigations.").

Here, like in *Maynard* and *Phelps*, Cpl. Nazelrod's testimony regarding the nature of the call was not for the truth of the matter asserted. Rather, it explained Cpl. Nazelrod's motive and conduct for why he was dispatched to Petitioner's home in the first place.

If this Court were to find Cpl. Nazelrod's testimony to be hearsay, its admission was harmless. This Court holds:

Where improper evidence of a non-constitutional nature is introduced by the State in a criminal trial, the test to determine if the error is harmless is: (1) the inadmissible evidence must be removed from the State's case and a determination made as to whether the remaining evidence is sufficient to convince impartial minds of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; (2) if the remaining evidence is found to be insufficient, the error is not harmless; (3) if the remaining evidence is sufficient to support the conviction, an analysis must be made to determine whether the error had any prejudicial effect on the jury.'

Phelps, 197 W. Va. 713, 478 S.E.2d 563, 572 (quoting Syllabus Point 6, State v. Smith, 178 W.Va. 104, 358 S.E.2d 188 (1987)).

¹¹ The Court then found that officer's testimony was barred because it was irrelevant under W.Va. R. Evid. 401, but found that this error did not constitute reversible error. *State v. Maynard*, 183 W.Va. 1, 6, 393 S.E.2d 221, 226 (1990).

Even if this Court excludes Cpl. Nazelrod's statement, the jury heard ample testimony of the Petitioner's guilt. First, the jury saw pictures of Mrs. Rexrode's injuries to her eye and arm, and the jury saw the injuries on Petitioner's hand. Second, Dep. Rohrbaugh testified to the reason for going to Petitioner's house. The prosecutor asked, "[o]n the evening of April the 19th of this year, did you go to [Maysville], the home of the defendant, with regard to an investigation of a domestic battery?" Dep. Rohrbaugh replied, "I did." (AR 171). Mrs. Rexrode told Dep. Rohrbaugh of the battery. Dep. Rohrbaugh testified that Mrs. Rexrode advised him that there was a physical altercation, and Petitioner "had her on the ground, more or less beating her." (Id.). Third, Mrs. Rexrode testified and confirmed the contents of her statement to police.

G. The Defendant was not prejudiced by the circuit court's failure to render a decision within ninety (90) days.

Again, when "a nonconstitutional error has been asserted," this Court will not reverse the judgement "unless the error is prejudicial to the defendant." *See State v. Atkins*, 163 W.Va. 502, 510, 261 S.E.2d 55, 60. (citations omitted). Petitioner fails to show how the circuit court's delay in issuing its order denying Petitioner's appeal prejudiced him in any way.

On November 1, 2017, Petitioner filed with the circuit court the trial record. (AR 144). The circuit court held oral argument on January 22, 2018. The circuit court issued its written order denying the appeal on May 24, 2018. (AR 204). Then, by order entered June 1, 2018, the circuit court stayed the execution of Petitioner's ten day jail sentence until this Court renders its decision in the instant appeal.

Here, Petitioner sets forth no showing of prejudice. Petitioner's jail sentence has been stayed until this Court issues a ruling. Regardless of the imposed deadline on the circuit court, no

¹² The Petitioner did not object.

¹³ Petitioner objected to this testimony on hearsay grounds, but the court allowed permitted it an excited utterance exception. Petitioner does not appeal the court's ruling.

such deadline is imposed on this Court. Therefore, Petitioner cannot claim prejudice based upon this pending litigation because it would still be subject to litigation before this Court.

H. No Cumulative Error Exists.

As detailed above, Petitioner is not entitled to relief based on the cumulative error doctrine. See State v. Peterson, 239 W.Va. 21, 36, 799 S.E.2d 98, 113 (2017). Only when "the record of a criminal trial shows that the cumulative effect of numerous errors committed during the trial prevented the defendant from receiving a fair trial, his conviction should be set aside, even though any one of such errors standing alone would be harmless error." Syllabus Point 12 State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657, 461 S.E.2d 163 (1995) (finding error when prosecutor failed to disclose defendant's oral statements before cross-examination and prosecutor's statements in closing were inflammatory). None of the errors alleged by the Petitioner require reversal either standing alone or in any combination.

VIII. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent respectfully asks this Court to deny the petitioner's appeal and affirm his conviction and sentence for domestic battery.